RECEIVED

Dec 19 2024

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM ORANGEBURG COUNTY
Court of General Sessions

Maite Murphy, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No.: 2024-000583

Ex Parte: South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense, Respondent,

In Re: The State, Respondent,

V.

Kenneth Henry Eastwood, Appellant.

APPELLANT'S FINAL BRIEF

December 19, 2024

/s Ashley B. Cornwell
Ashley B. Cornwell
Cornwell Law Firm, LLC
1470 Ben Sawyer Blvd., Suite 14
Mount Pleasant, SC 29464
843-595-6003
acornwell@cornwellfirm.com
Attorney for Appellant

ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. DID THE CIRCUIT COURT HAVE JURISDICTION TO RESCIND THE FUNDING ORDERS IN THIS MATTER?

- II. DID THE CIRCUIT COURT ERR IN DENYING THE RULE TO SHOW CAUSE?

PROCEDURAL HISTORY

On December 15, 2019, Kenneth Henry Eastwood was arrested and charged with Murder. At the time of his arrest, Eastwood was working as a stock person at the IGA grocery store in Eutawville and could not afford an attorney. Shortly thereafter, Eastwood's sister retained attorney James Falk on her brother's behalf. Mr. Falk remained the attorney of record until his death on May 9, 2023. On May 18, 2023, the Public Defender's Office was appointed to represent Eastwood and on June 15, 2023, Attorney Ashley Cornwell was retained on Eastwood's behalf at a discounted rate. Prior to trial, Eastwood submitted two ex parte funding petitions to the Court for the purpose of retaining two expert witnesses. On October 13, 2023, upon the conclusion of ex parte proceedings, the Court signed and filed an order granting Eastwood funds for a False Confession Expert to be paid by the Office of Indigent Defense. On November 2, 2023, the Court signed and filed another order granting Eastwood funds for an Expert in Forensic Pathology to be paid by the Office of Indigent Defense. Eastwood was tried during the November 6, 2023, term of court in Orangeburg County, with both expert witnesses testifying for the defense. On November 9, 2023, Eastwood was found guilty of murder and sentenced to life in prison. Eastwood filed a timely Notice of Appeal on November 18, 2023.

On December 12, 2023, counsel submitted the funding orders along with detailed invoices from the experts to SCCID for payment. Immediately upon receiving the request for payment, SCCID informed counsel of their objection to the orders, refusing to render payment to the experts. On December 19, 2023, counsel filed and served a petition for a Rule to Show Cause, requesting SCCID to render immediate payment to the expert witnesses for their services. In response to Eastwood's petition, SCCID submitted an objection letter to the Court on December 20, 2023, requesting the funding orders be rescinded. A virtual hearing was held on the Rule to Show Cause on January 18, 2024. On February 28, 2024, the trial court filed an Order Denying Defendant's

Rule to Show Cause, ruling that funds from indigent defense cannot be allocated to indigent defendants who have retained counsel and finding that SCCID was not in contempt for refusing to remit payment to the expert witnesses. Eastwood filed a Motion to Reconsider on March 7, 2024, which was denied on March 25, 2024. Appellant filed this appeal on April 5, 2024.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

In an appeal from an action in equity, an appellate court has jurisdiction to find facts in accordance with its own view of the preponderance of evidence and a de novo standard of review applies. *See Pinkey v. Warren*, 344 S.C. 382, 544 S.E. 2d 620 (2001).

ARGUMENT

1. THE CIRCUIT COURT LACKED JURISDICTION TO RESCIND THE FUNDING ORDERS.

In 2006, the S.C. Supreme Court found that by virtue of statutory amendment and pursuant to S.C. Code Section 17-3-330(A)(1), the Office of Indigent Defense was expanded and additionally authorized to serve as the entity which distributes all funds appropriated by the General Assembly for the defense of indigents, including but not limited to, funds for attorney fees and expenses in noncapital cases. *See* 2006-09-29-01 Order of the South Carolina Supreme Court. That Order further found the new law requiring the Office of Indigent Defense to effectuate payment shall be the controlling statute as applied to payments rendered for the defense of indigent defendants. *Id.* Pursuant to this finding, the 2006 Order established such rules and procedures as may be necessary for the proper administration of Chapter 3 Title 17, which pertains to indigent defense. *Id.* The procedures outlined in the 2006 order address the submission of vouchers submitted to SCCID by appointed counsel and specifically address the process if there is an objection by the Office of Indigent Defense pertaining to the reasonableness of the requested voucher amount. *Id.* at ¶5. While the 2006 order established rules and procedures for SCCID regarding the voucher process

in matters that had not been reviewed by the circuit court, it was not intended to abdicate the rules of procedure for matters that had already been ruled upon by the circuit court; specifically stating ***“[n]othing herein shall preclude the trial court from taking immediate action on ex parte requests for fees and costs during the pendency of a case as may be authorized by statute or court rule.”*** 2006-09-29-01 Order of the South Carolina Supreme Court, ¶9 (emphasis added). Instead, Rule 59(e), SCRCR, requires that a motion to alter or amend a judgment “shall be filed no later than 10 days after receipt of written notice of the entry of order” for all matters previously ruled upon by the court. Similarly, Rule 203(b)(2) of the South Carolina Appellate Court Rules requires that a notice of appeal shall be filed and served on all respondents within ten (10) days after receipt of written notice of entry of the order or judgment. The requirement of service for the notice of appeal is jurisdictional, i.e., if a party misses the deadline, the court lacks jurisdiction to consider the appeal and has no authority or discretion to ‘rescue’ the delinquent party by extending or ignoring the deadline for service of the notice. These are the only procedures for a party to amend, alter or appeal an order that has already been entered by the Court. *See Wells Fargo Bank v. Fallon Properties*, 422 S.C. 211, 810 S.E.2d 856 (2018); *See also Norris v. Heyward*, 312 S.C. 67, 439 S.E.2d 264 (1993).

In the case at hand, the circuit court issued funding orders on October 13, 2023, and November 2, 2023, allocating fees to be paid by SCCID for the service of two expert witnesses. On December 12, 2023, after the case had concluded, counsel submitted invoices from the experts along with a copy of the sealed funding orders to SCCID for payment. On December 20, 2023, SCCID filed an objection letter with the circuit court, but did not file any procedural motions. In their letter SCCID objected to paying the funds as ordered, stating their position that the statutes, budget provisions and policies governing SCCID do not authorize the use of Indigent Defense Funds to pay expert fees or expenses in cases where the defendant has retained private counsel and requesting that the

circuit court rescind the funding orders in this matter. *See* State v. Kenneth Eastwood Objection Letter.

Here the circuit court duly considered whether Eastwood qualified as an indigent defendant and whether the funds being requested were reasonable and necessary during ex parte proceedings, as authorized pursuant to S.C. Code §17-3-50 (B) and (C). At the conclusion of each ex parte proceeding, the circuit court issued funding orders finding Eastwood was indigent and ruling that the amount SCCID was being ordered to pay “is appropriate because the services to be provided are reasonably and necessarily incurred”. *See* Ex Parte Order For Funding For False Confession Expert; *See also* Ex Parte Order For Funding For Forensic Pathology Expert. The circuit court also made a specific finding of fact in each order that “these services are reasonable and necessary to adequately represent the Defendant and ensure he has a complete and competent defense at trial” and ordering that the “amount listed establishes the maximum amount to be paid without additional authorization from this Court”. *Id.* SCCID failed to file the proper procedural motions objecting to the funding orders previously entered by the circuit court. Furthermore, the funding orders issued by the circuit court make clear and unambiguous findings regarding the reasonableness of the funds being ordered. Accordingly, the circuit court lacked jurisdiction to hear SCCID’s objections and erred as both a matter of procedure and of law in finding that SCCID was not in contempt for refusing to submit payment to the expert witnesses.

2. THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED IN DENYING THE RULE TO SHOW CAUSE

“[T]he United States Supreme Court has held that the defendant must have ‘a fair opportunity to present his defense,’ thereby requiring the State to provide the ‘basic tools’ for an adequate defense to an indigent defendant.” *Bailey v. State*, 309 S.C. 455, 459, 424, S.E.2d 503, 506 (1992) (quoting *Ake v. Oklahoma*, 470 U.S. 68, 105 S.Ct. 1087, 84 L.Ed.2d 53 (1985)). “Thus, although

the State is not required to provide the indigent defendant with unlimited funding, it must ensure that the defendant has competent counsel and the service of experts necessary to a meaningful defense.” *Id.* It is well-established that part of an accused’s constitutional right to counsel is that it be *effective counsel*, capable of presenting witnesses, evidence, and defenses on an accused’s behalf. *See Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 688, 104 S.Ct. 2052 (1984); *See also Reeves v. State*, 415 S.C. 366, 782 S.E.2d 747 (S.C.App. 2015). Necessary expenses of representation pursuant to this right of effective counsel include fees of expert witnesses, costs of scientific tests or exhibits for trial demonstration, costs of psychiatric examinations, and extraordinary travel expenses. *See* Rule 602 SCARCrImP. In determining whether a person is indigent there are a number of factors that must be considered, including but not limited to, sources of income, debts, assets, family situation, custodial status, etc. *Id.* Therefore, a person considered indigent through the legal system is one who, at the time they are required, does not have adequate funds to pay a necessary cost of their defense. Accordingly, the question of indigency may be determined or redetermined by the court at any stage of the matter in which a person is entitled to representation; and reasonable funds for necessary expenses may be ordered to provide for that person’s defense. *See* S.C. Code of Laws §17-3-330 and §17-3-50; *See also Reeves v. State*, 415 S.C. 366, 782 S.E.2d 747 (S.C. App. 2015).

In consideration of Eastwoods’s ex parte petitions for funding and the follow-up ex parte communications regarding Eastwood, the circuit court found that Eastwood did qualify as an indigent defendant and the requested funds for the services of these experts were a reasonable and necessary expense for trial. The circuit court further found that without this funding Defendant would be denied the opportunity to meaningfully participate in a judicial proceeding in which his

liberty was at stake. Pursuant to these findings, the circuit court entered funding orders for each expert witness to be paid with funds from Indigent Defense in accordance with §17-3-50.

S.C. Code Ann. §17-3-50 is specifically titled “Determination of fees for appointed counsel and public defenders; maximum amounts; authorization to exceed maximums; payment for certain services”. Pursuant to the “payment for certain services” section of the statute, §17-3-50(B) allows “upon a finding in ex parte proceedings that investigative, expert, or other services are reasonably necessary for the representation of the defendant, the court shall authorized the **defendant’s attorney** to obtain such services on behalf of the defendant and shall order the payment from funds available to the Office of Indigent Defense, of fees and payment...” while §17-3-50(C) allows for payment in excess of the statutory rates to provide compensation adequate to ensure effective assistance of counsel. Neither of these statutes indicate that the ex parte proceeding for funds can only be conducted by appointed counsel nor that compensation in excess of statutory rates may only be obtained in cases where counsel has been appointed. The clear and unambiguous language provided in the statute as applied to ex parte hearings for funds involving investigative services, expert witnesses, and other services is that a “defendant’s attorney” shall obtain such services on behalf of the defendant not “appointed counsel shall...” Common practice followed by both the courts and SCCID has always allowed for retained counsel to engage in ex parte hearings and obtain funding orders to be paid by SCCID for investigative, expert and other expenses reasonably necessary for the representation of a defendant pursuant to §17-3-50(B) and (C).

In *Reeves v. State* the Court of Appeals found that Reeves’ retained counsel was ineffective for failing to consult with and present expert witnesses at trial to dispute the State’s evidence. In that case retained counsel indicated that he did not consult with expert witnesses because he did not believe that Reeves was financially capable of retaining the services of the experts. In their finding

the appellate court cited *Bailey v. State* and also referenced §17-3-50(B) in finding that counsel was ineffective for not seeking funding to retain expert witnesses on Reeves behalf. *See Reeves v. State*, 415 S.C. 366, 782 S.E.2d 747 (S.C. App. 2015).

The primary argument made by SCCID in objecting to the funding orders that were granted in this matter is that the court erred in finding Mr. Eastwood indigent based solely on the fact that he (or someone on his behalf) was able to retain private counsel to represent him in this matter. SCCID further argued that the funds allocated by the General Assembly to SCCID for the defense of indigent persons can only be used for persons represented by public defenders or court appointed attorneys regardless of their indigent status. Their position is that once a person retains private counsel they can no longer be considered indigent defendants for financial purposes. That argument is fundamentally flawed, and is not cited in any constitutional amendment, article, state statute, rule, or case law. Furthermore, it directly contradicts the language found in §17-3-50, Rule 602 SCARCrImP, and this Court's finding in *Reeves v. State*. Accordingly, the circuit court's finding that Eastwood was indigent at the time the orders were given but is not entitled to funds from Indigent Defense because he was not represented by court appointed counsel is an error of law and is not good cause for SCCID's refusal to comply with the funding orders previously issued by the circuit court.

CONCLUSION

The funding orders in this matter were properly issued by the circuit court upon finding Eastwood was indigent and the requested funds for expert witnesses were reasonable and necessary expenses to ensure a complete and competent defense at trial. Furthermore, SCCID's objection letter is not a proper procedural motion therefore the circuit court lacked jurisdiction to rescind the

funding orders in this matter. Accordingly, the Order Denying the Rule to Show Cause should be reversed.