**RECEIVED**

**Nov 04 2024**

**SC Court of Appeals**

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

---

Appeal from Orangeburg County

Honorable Maite Murphy, Circuit Court Judge

---

EX PARTE: SOUTH CAROLINA COMMISSION ON INDIGENT  
DEFENSE,

RESPONDENT,

IN RE: THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

KENNETH HENRY EASTWOOD,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2024-000583

---

INITIAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

---

J. HUGH RYAN  
Executive Director

HERVERY B. O. YOUNG  
Deputy Director and General Counsel

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense  
PO Box 11433  
Columbia, SC 29211-1433  
(803) 734-1343

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

**

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

The Agency followed the procedures set forth by the Supreme Court in the 2006 Voucher Order which controls how the Agency processes payment vouchers. Cornwell's brief concedes the 2006 Voucher Order is still in effect and applies to this matter. Br. App. at 3-4.

Under the 2006 Voucher Order, if the Agency has an objection to a payment request, it "shall notify the trial court and counsel of any objection and shall forward any necessary materials to the trial court in writing or electronically." 2006 Voucher Order, para. 5. Had the Supreme Court intended a formal motion under Rule 59, it would have said so. This provision of the

---

<sup>1</sup> It appears Cornwell never filed her Rule to Show Cause with the Orangeburg County Clerk of Court. It does not appear in the online public index nor could the Agency find a filed copy when it physically inspected the clerk's file. While not dispositive because Judge Murphy certainly received it and considered it, this point further undermines Cornwell's argument that the Agency's multiple writings were untimely and should not have been considered.

Voucher Order also states that the trial court may determine the matter with or without a hearing. Id.

If Cornwell’s argument were correct, then a trial court could not decide the issue or hold a hearing unless a formal Rule 59 motion were filed. This tortured construction would make this provision of the Voucher Order a nullity and absurd. “Courts interpreting the South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure apply the same rules of construction used to interpret statutes.” James v. South Carolina Dep’t Transp., 393 S.C. 440, 445, 711 S.E.2d 919, 922 (Ct. App. 2011). A maxim of statutory construction is that the specific controls over the general. Id. The Voucher Order is the specific rule that controls over Cornwell’s assertion that the general Rule 59 applies. Cornwell’s reading of the Voucher Order would create an absurd result—that the Supreme Court wrote a specific provision that lacks any force. See Duke Energy Corp. v. South Carolina Dep’t Rev., 415 S.C. 351, 355, 782 S.E.2d 590, 592 (2016). The Voucher Order controls, not Rule 59. It requires only a writing and the Agency transmitted its written objections to the trial court and to Cornwell eight days after learning of the funding orders’ existence and one day after Cornwell filed her Rule to Show Cause.

Cornwell’s argument elevates form over substance and ignores that Judge Murphy considered the Agency’s timely submitted writing and scheduled a hearing. See Barnes v. State, 433 S.C. 399, 402-03, 859 S.E.2d 260, 261 (2021). In Barnes, a clerk of court rejected a PCR application because it was on the wrong form. Id. The Court first noted that clerks have no discretion to reject filings. Id. It then stated that a clerk cannot reject a pleading because of deficiencies in its form and such power is reserved for judges. Id. Appellant did not even ask Judge Murphy to reject the Agency’s written objections as insufficient. The judge considered the

objections and held a hearing where appellant again failed to raise this timeliness and sufficiency argument.

Furthermore, the Agency could have filed a Rule 60 motion and contested the funding orders. Rule 60 allows courts to relieve a party from an order within a year if the order was void or based on the misconduct of another party. See Rule 60(b), SCRCP. As will be shown in the argument on the merits, the funding orders were not properly issued as a matter of law. Appellant's filings that obtained the funding orders made no mention that she was retained and not appointed. The *ex parte* nature of these orders meant that the Agency had no ability to help the trial court understand the deficiencies in appellant's filings. The point here is that the Agency's multiple written responses were timely and were properly construed as timely, especially remembering the fact that the judge was considering the Agency's responses to a Rule to Show Cause submitted by Cornwell. Appellant's late argument is a Hail Mary hoping this Court will seize on a procedural hypertechicality. Judge Murphy properly rejected this last-ditch effort and so should this Court.

## **2. The Trial Court Properly Refused to Create an Unfunded Mandate and Shift Appellant's Expenses onto the Treasury**

Cornwell's argument on the merits is based on (1) taking portions of the controlling statute out of context; and (2) dicta in a footnote in a PCR case from this Court. She ignores the trial court's finding that the appellate court rules unambiguously prohibit payment to retained counsel. She does not respond to the specific policy arguments raised by the Agency below, but relies on the general constitutional principles requiring states to provide indigent people with a defense. The Agency does not, of course, contest these principles that are the sole purpose of its existence. But the Agency does contest the stretching of these core principles to enrich privately retained attorneys. Finally, Cornwell fails to make any argument contesting the trial court's express finding

that she failed to follow the 2006 Voucher Order and the Agency's procedures when she sought payment. Her failure to contest this ground for denial of relief bars her appeal under the two-issue rule.

*a. Section 17-3-50 Does Not Apply to Retained Counsel*

By the titles of its sections, the Defense of Indigents Act does not apply to privately retained counsel. Section 17-3-50 is specifically titled "Determination of fees for **appointed counsel and public defenders . . .**" S.C. Code Ann. § 17-3-50 (emphasis added). This section begins with the words, "When private counsel is appointed pursuant to this chapter. . ." S.C. Code Ann. § 17-3-50(A). Cornwell's argument fails because this section unambiguously applies only to attorneys who have been appointed by a court. It is undisputed that Cornwell was privately retained and never sought to be appointed to represent Eastwood.

Cornwell's argument relies on taking sections (B) and (C) out of context. She claims ambiguity because these provisions of the statute say "the defendant's attorney" and do not repeat the phrase "appointed counsel." Her attempt to have section 17-3-50 read as three separate and independent statutes fails because the entire provision must be read together. As our Supreme Court has explained, statutes

"must be read as a whole and sections which are part of the same General statutory law must be construed together and each one given effect." S.C. State Ports Auth. v. Jasper County, 368 S.C. 388, 398, 629 S.E.2d 624, 629 (2006). We therefore should not concentrate on isolated phrases within the statute. Id. Instead, we read the statute as a whole and in a manner consonant and in harmony with its purpose. State v. Sweat, 379 S.C. 367, 376, 665 S.E.2d 645, 650 (Ct.App.2008), affd. 386 S.C. 339, 688 S.E.2d 569 (2010).

CFRE, LLC v. Greenville County Assessor, 395 S.C. 67, 716 S.E.2d 877 (2011).

"The cardinal rule of statutory interpretation is to determine the intent of the legislature." Bass v. Isochem, 365 S.C. 454, 469, 617 S.E.2d 369, 377 (Ct. App. 2005). "The language must

also be read in a sense which harmonizes with its subject matter and accords with its general purpose.” Id. at 470, 617 S.E.2d at 377. “A court should not consider a particular clause in a statute as being construed in isolation, but should read it in conjunction with the purpose of the whole statute and the policy of the law.” Id. at 472, 617 S.E.2d at 378.

Section 17-3-50 must be read as a whole and construed together to give effect to the Legislature’s intent. The statute addresses fees and expenses for private attorneys appointed to represent indigent defendants and public defenders and approved experts in their cases. The “defendant” referenced in the statute is the indigent defendant and the attorney the statute references is the private appointed attorney or the public defender.

Other sections of the Defense of Indigents Act support the Agency and the trial court’s interpretation. Section 17-3-80 is titled, “Appropriation for expenses of **appointed** private counsel and public defenders; restrictions and limitations.” S.C. Code Ann. § 17-3-80 (emphasis added). The text of the section provides, “This fund must be used to reimburse private-appointed counsel, public defenders, and assistant public defenders for necessary expenses . . . actually incurred in the representation of persons pursuant to this chapter, so long as expenses are approved by the trial judge.” Id. Section 17-3-90 is titled “Vouchers for payment for services by private appointed counsel and for reimbursement of expenses; approval and submission for payment.” S.C. Code Ann. § 17-3-90. This section’s text begins with “Private, appointed counsel shall submit . . . and the public defender shall do likewise. . .” The Act sets the standard for indigency as a person who “is financially unable to employ counsel.” S.C. Code § 17-3-30(A). Eastwood employed Cornwell for a fee of fifteen thousand dollars. See also S.C. Code § 17-3-20 (“unable financially to retain adequate counsel”); S.C. Code § 17-3-45(A) (“financially unable to employ counsel”); Rule 602(b)(3) (“a person is indigent if that person is financially unable to employ counsel”).

The legislative intent and plain language of Chapter 3 of Title 17 are clear that defense of indigent funds is limited to cases where private counsel or the public defender is appointed. Cornwell cannot cherry pick isolated phrases to arrive at her desired interpretation. The trial court also correctly deferred to the Agency's interpretation of this statutory language, which the Agency is tasked with implementing. See Brown v. DHEC, 348 S.C. 507, 560 S.E.2d 410 (2002) (stating that "the Court generally gives deference to an administrative agency's interpretation of an applicable statute or its own regulation.").

The deference described in Brown has existed in our jurisprudence for nearly two hundred years and exists for a very good reason. See Read Phosphate Co. v. S.C. Tax Comm'n, 169 S.C. 314, 168 S.E. 722, 728 (1933) citing Edwards' Lessee v. Darby, 25 U.S. 206 (1827). In Darby, the United States Supreme Court said, "In the construction of a doubtful and ambiguous law, the cotemporaneous construction of those who were called upon to act under the law, and were appointed to carry its provisions into effect, is entitled to very great respect. The law was not only thus construed by the commissioners, but that construction seems to have received, very shortly after, the sanction of the legislature." Darby, 25 U.S. at 210. State agencies rely on their interpretation of a statute when they make reports and financial forecasts to the Legislature. They rely on existing interpretations when they seek funding. As will be addressed below, Cornwell's interpretation would result in a massive increase in the Agency's expenditures which would need to be dealt with immediately by the Legislature.

Cornwell fails to address the supporting language of our Court's appellate rules. The Legislature expressly gave the Supreme Court the authority to make rules necessary for the administration of the Defense of Indigents Act. S.C. Code Ann. § 17-3-110. The Supreme Court used this authority in Rule 602, SCACR. This rule provides for the appointment of public

defenders or private counsel but also specifically addresses cases where counsel has been retained. See Rule 602(c), SCACR. The rule states that, “If counsel shall have been retained and partially paid for his services in either trial or appeal stages, no reimbursement may be had from indigent funds.” Id. The trial judge correctly found this rule’s language was unambiguous and controlled the result here. The Rule’s clarity is likely why Cornwell makes no effort to address it in her brief.

Rule 602(c)’s plain language also accords with the Agency’s interpretation of section 17-3-50. If, as Cornwell argues, sections 17-3-50(B) and (C) allow privately retained attorneys to get funds for experts, then the statute and the rule conflict. But under the Agency and the trial judge’s interpretation, no conflict exists. If section 17-3-50 only applies to appointed counsel, then Rule 602(c)’s prohibition of payment from indigent funds to privately retained attorneys makes perfect sense. The trial court correctly interpreted these statutes and upheld the Agency’s refusal of payment in a retained case.

*b. This Court Should Not Create an Unfunded Mandate*

The funds appropriated by the General Assembly are intended to provide for indigent representation for those persons that are financially unable to retain counsel. See S.C. Code Ann. §§ 17-3-30, -45. The funds are not appropriated to supplement fees and costs for privately retained counsel. If this Court decides Cornwell’s interpretation of the Defense of Indigents Act is correct, it will allow private lawyers to render their clients indigent with a large fee, keep that fee for themselves, and shift the payment of all expenses to the taxpayers. If South Carolina wants to create a gigantic subsidy benefiting for-profit criminal defense lawyers, such a decision should only be made by the Legislature.

People who are financially able to retain counsel assume the cost of that litigation. It is standard practice in any retainer agreement that issues of litigation costs are addressed and included

as part of the contract. Cornwell admitted that her retainer agreements “provide notice to the client that, in addition to the agreed upon legal fee, they are also responsible for all additional costs associated with resolving their case.” R. \_\_\_ (Response to SCCID’s Objections to Funding Orders, p. 3). The retainer agreement governs each parties’ obligations to perform under the terms of that agreement. The Rules of Professional Conduct require attorneys to tell the client the expenses for which the client will be responsible. See Rule 1.5(b), Rules of Prof. Conduct, Rule 407 SCACR.

The taxpayers are not a party to that agreement. Because appellant’s “discounted” fee of \$15,000 failed to account for possible experts—in a murder case where the need for experts is extraordinarily likely—the state treasury should not then be required to provide funds already budgeted for the defense of persons who are truly financially unable to employ counsel. The Defense of Indigents Act is not an insurance policy for poorly conceived fee arrangements.

The Agency obviously agrees that the constitution requires state governments to provide indigent citizens with the basic tools for their defense. See Br. App. at 5 citing Ake v. Oklahoma, 470 U.S. 68 (1985). The Agency exists for this purpose. But our Supreme Court has recognized that there are limits. See Bailey v. State, 309 S.C. 455, 424 S.E.2d 503 (1992). Bailey dealt very carefully and specifically with statutory caps on fees for attorneys appointed in capital cases. Id. at 464-65, 424 S.E.2d at 508-09. The Court held that the statutory caps were not “absolute allowances in capital cases, but merely limitations upon the State’s funds allocated for the Defense of Indigents.” Id. Counties were required “to supplement as required in a given case.” Id. The Court specifically declined to address the “issue of compensation for attorneys appointed to non-capital cases.” Id.

Even with the Bailey Court’s findings about “the awesome burden” on lawyers defending capital cases, it still declined to create an unfunded mandate on the Agency. Id. And Bailey dealt

only with **appointed** attorneys in **capital** cases. The Court was careful not to tread any farther than it needed. It declined to address compensation for appointed attorneys in non-capital cases. It recognized that government's resources are scarce and that Ake does not require the State "to provide unlimited funding." Id. at 459, 424 S.E.2d at 506. Contrast the Supreme Court's measured approach in Bailey with the sweeping policy decision Cornwell seeks from this Court. Cornwell asks this Court to judicially mandate payment of expert fees in cases where lawyers are retained. This Court should not engage in judicial activism to subsidize private lawyers when the Legislature has declined to do so.

Cornwell mistakenly relies on dicta in Reeves v. State, 415 S.C. 366, 782 S.E.2d 747 (Ct. App. 2015). Reeves was a PCR case and did not deal with the issue before the Court here. Trial counsel in Reeves did almost nothing. He failed to recognize the need for an expert medical witness. Reeves at 377-78, 782 S.E.2d at 752-53. He did not consult with his client about consulting an expert. Id. The specific holdings of the case were that trial counsel (1) "should have discussed hiring a medical expert with" his client, and (2) "did not provide a legitimate trial strategy for failing to consult with an expert before trial or call a medical expert witness to testify at trial." Id. Trial counsel could recall almost nothing about the case except there was a "question about money." Id. His file was destroyed. Id.

Cornwell's entire argument is premised not on the holding of Reeves—that trial counsel failed to even consult with an expert or his client about getting an expert—but dicta in a footnote. In footnote five of Reeves, this Court wrote, "if Reeves was indigent and could not afford to pay for an expert, the South Carolina Office on Indigent Defense could have provided funds needed to secure an expert." Reeves at n.5. While Reeves involves retained counsel, it does not stand for the principal that the Defense of Indigents Funds are available to retained counsel. The issue of

indigency was never raised in Reeves at the trial level (and thus not are part of the record) and only referenced in dicta during the appeal stage. Reeves did not weigh the factors to determine indigency and did not rule upon or even consider the effect of counsel being retained on the ability to access indigent funds. Had the Agency believed Reeves established a right for retained counsel to access indigent funds, the Agency would have sought review by the South Carolina Supreme Court. A massive transformation of how attorneys are paid in criminal cases cannot rest on dicta in a footnote on an issue that was not litigated.

Cornwell asks this Court to ignore the current law and require the Agency to pay costs without budgetary authorization from the Legislature. While some states have made provisions in their statutes for retained counsel to potentially access taxpayer funds, South Carolina is not one of them. Any decision to provide access to state funds for retained counsel is an issue for the General Assembly to address through their “power of the purse” in the annual appropriations acts or statutory changes.

Florida is an example of a state where the Legislature allows taxpayer funds to be used for costs when an attorney is retained. See Fla. Stat. Ann. § 27.52(5). Florida’s provision is entitled “Indigent for costs.” Id. It contains a comprehensive regulatory scheme that allows for application by the defendant and review by Florida’s Justice Administrative Commission. Id. The commission is allowed “to contest any motion to declare a person indigent for costs.” Id. at § 27.52(5)(b). The statute lists six specific criteria for a court to consider when allowing a defendant to be declared indigent for costs. Id. at § 27.52(d)(1-6). The sixth factor is the amount the defendant paid the attorney. Id. It contains “a presumption that the applicant is not indigent for costs if the amount of attorney’s fees exceeds \$5,000 for a noncapital case or \$25,000 for a capital case in which the

state is seeking the death penalty.” *Id.* Cornwell was paid three times the amount of the presumption in Florida—a far wealthier state than South Carolina.

Florida’s statute shows the financial realities inherent in this issue and the need for consideration by a legislature of the economics involved. South Carolina has not done so. Our Legislature’s failure to enact this kind of statute means this Court should not create one by judicial fiat. Without legislative study and consideration, there would be profound detrimental consequences to the indigent defense system. If retained counsel had unfettered access to funds for investigative, expert, or other services based upon the mere assertion of indigency after the client has paid what is often a substantial retainer fee, it would create a system ripe for exploitation wherein counsel can collect more in attorneys’ fees by shifting the cost of experts and expenses to the State to cover the cost of a private contractual matter. The Legislature entrusted the Agency and the courts with the authority to protect these limited resources to ensure funds are available for their intended purpose. Cornwell’s audacious argument would frustrate this legislative intent.

*c. The Two-Issue Rule Bars Cornwell’s Appeal*

As a separate and independent ground for denying appellant’s Rule to Show Cause, Judge Murphy found that Cornwell did not follow the Agency’s procedures when she sought payment. R. \_\_\_ (Order Denying Defendant’s Rule to Show Cause at p. 6). Appellant has not appealed this ruling. Her failure to appeal this separate and independent ground bars consideration of her arguments. *See Atlantic Coast Builders v. Lewis*, 398 S.C. 323, 328-30, 730 S.E.2d 282, 284-85 (2012).

“Under the two-issue rule, where a decision is based on more than one ground, the appellate court will affirm unless the appellant appeals all grounds because the unappealed ground will become law of the case.” *Id.* (internal quotations omitted). In *Lewis*, the appellant appealed two

out of the three grounds on which liability was based. Id. Because Lewis failed to appeal the third ground, the Court held “our consideration of Lewis’s arguments is barred by the two-issue rule.”

Id.